IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case of original jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, section 15 of the Florida Constitution.

Because the events of this case occurred prior to January 1, 1987, all citations to disciplinary rules and rules of grievance procedure are to those existing before the current Rules Regulating the Bar.

hearing on October 6, 1986, the referee After final appointed to preside over these proceedings filed her report and recommendations with this Court. The referee made various factual findings and recommended that Respondent be found guilty violating DR 1-102(A)(4) of the Code of Professional of Responsibility and rule 11.02(3)(a) of Article XI of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. As discipline, the referee recommended that a public reprimand be administered.

Respondent appeals the referee's denial of his motion to dismiss, the referee's finding that Respondent violated various ethical rules and the recommendation of the referee as to discipline.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Respondent's Conduct

In approximately April 1980 Wanda Lewis entered into a lease-purchase agreement with Blue Bird Leasing, Inc. to lease a 1979 Datsun. The lease called for 24 monthly payments of \$171 with a balloon payment due at the end of the rental period.

Blue Bird was a leasing company owned by Hosner Enterprises, a corporation owned by Respondent and his family. Blue Bird leased 120 to 150 cars during a two to three year period as well as some computers. Although Respondent was president of Blue Bird, he was not involved in its day to day operations. Furthermore, it was not in any way connected with his law practice (TR 97).

Ms. Lewis was never Respondent's client (TR 96).

Respondent did not participate in the lease of the Datsun to Ms. Lewis (TR 97).

Ms. Lewis was periodically late in making her payments on the Datsun (TR 38). On at least one occasion, in August 1981, Respondent had to write her demanding she immediately make current a two month arrearage on her Datsun payments (App. A). In that same letter, Respondent also demanded that she bring current three months office rent she owed to Hosner Enterprises.

On June 30, 1982, Chig Findley, an employee of Blue Bird, wrote Ms. Lewis demanding payment of the \$2,300.15 balloon payment due on the Datsun (App. B). On July 20, 1982, Mr. Findley again wrote Ms. Lewis demanding final payment on the

Datsun. (App. C). In that letter, Mr. Findley pointed out that Ms. Lewis had driven her Datsun almost two months since making her last payment in May.

On July 30, 1982 Ms. Lewis delivered her personal check to Blue Bird for \$2,340.35, representing the payoff on her car. Shortly thereafter, Respondent deposited the check into the Joe G. Hosner Rental Account.

Ms. Lewis' title was not transferred to her name until June 22, 1983 (TR 82) -- the same day she mailed her complaint to The Florida Bar (TR 123). Respondent transferred the title prior to receiving notice on July 14, 1983 that a complaint had been filed (TR 128).

The referee found no prejudice to Ms. Lewis as a result of the delay in delivering her title.

Respondent's testimony is unrebutted (Ms. Lewis did not appear at final hearing) as to the nature and number of his contacts with Ms. Lewis after her payment of the amount due on the Datsun. His reasons for being unable to deliver her title more promptly are also uncontradicted.

At the time Ms. Lewis delivered her check on the Datsun, Hosner Enterprises was holding two bad checks from Ms. Lewis and she owed the corporation funds from a rental account (TR 65, 78).

Respondent testified that he originally did not consider Ms. Lewis' car to be paid in full because the sums she owed precluded delivery of the title. He spoke to her attorney on a number of occasions about the matter (TR 67, 102). Finally, in November

1982, Respondent decided to deliver the title to Ms. Lewis (TR 127).

Respondent's decision in November 1982 to deliver title to Ms. Lewis was stymied by the bank holding the lien on her car. That institution, West Florida bank, had a blanket lien on the titles to approximately 13 cars leased by Blue Bird (TR 75-77, 127). West Florida would not release any of the titles unless the entire lien balance of \$25,000 to \$30,000 was paid (TR 127). Unfortunately, Respondent "went broke in November of `82(sic)" and "couldn't feed my family" (TR 73,74). By the time Respondent gathered enough funds to retire the liens on the Blue Bird titles, involuntary bankruptcy proceedings had been filed against him which further delayed delivery of the title (TR 74, 120).

Respondent testified that Blue Bird started having financial difficulties in summer 1982 (TR 100). At that time, Respondent unsuccessfully tried to get all titles held by West Florida released (TR 129). However, the bank demanded full payment on the entire balance due before it would release any of the titles (TR 76,77,127).

Even had Respondent delivered Ms. Lewis' check directly to West Florida, they would not have released their blanket lien on her car title (TR 121).

The testimony is unrebutted that Respondent met with Ms. Lewis personally on only one occasion and at that time he explained to her the reason for his failure to deliver her title (TR 72).

Another factor which had substantial impact on all of Respondent's activities in the July 1982 to June 1983 period was the health problems being experienced by his family. Respondent's son has a congenital heart defect which was a "lifethreatening situation" in 1982 (TR 113). In September 1982 the son had open heart surgery at Shands Hospital in Gainesville and in February 1983 he had a pacemaker implanted in Pensacola (TR 113).

In late November or early December, 1982, Respondent's wife (at that time they had been married 21 years) also had a heart attack (TR 114).

B. Grievance Procedures

Ms. Lewis' complaint to the Bar was dated June 22, 1983 (TR 123). On July 14, 1983, Respondent learned of the grievance when he received correspondence from Bar Counsel (TR 128). On April 17, 1984, the appropriate grievance committee conducted a probable cause hearing on Ms. Lewis' complaint. By a vote of three to two, with the chairman casting the deciding vote, the committee found probable cause for disciplinary proceedings.

At the time of the probable cause hearing, the committee was not composed of "at least one-third" nonlawyers as mandated by this Court. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule. Art. XI, rule 11.03(2)(c). Furthermore, the committee did not comply with the requirement in that same rule that a list of grievance committee members be attached to the notice of hearing sent prior to any probable cause hearing (TR 13, 15).

Although probable cause was found on April 17, 1984, the Bar's complaint was not filed until April 22, 1986 -- two years after probable cause was found and almost three years after Ms. Lewis' complaint was filed.

Final hearing in this cause was originally set for July 1986 in Panama City. However, to accommodate its witnesses, the Bar moved for continuance resulting in final hearing being reset for October 6, 1986 in Pensacola. Ms. Lewis did not appear at final hearing despite being advised by Bar Counsel of the new date by letter in July. The Bar's investigator never served her with a subpoena although Bar Counsel timely delivered it to him and although at all times the Bar was in possession of her address and telephone number. On the date of final hearing in these proceedings, Ms. Lewis was testifying in a separate case as an expert witness in Mobile, Alabama -- a one hour drive from Pensacola.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. Respondent's Motion to Dismiss Should Have Been Granted

Respondent's motion to dismiss was based on the Bar's failure in three instances to abide by this Court's requirements set forth in Article XI of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar. Specifically, (1) the grievance committee finding probable cause was improperly impaneled in that it did not consist of at least one-third nonlawyers as required by rule 11.03(2)(c); (2) a list of grievance committee members was not provided to Respondent at the time the notice of grievance committee hearing

was sent to him (thereby depriving him of notice that the committee was improperly impaneled) in violation of rule 11.03(2)(c); and (3) the Bar has unduly delayed these proceedings, contrary to rule 11.06(4) and numerous opinions by the Court.

The Integration Rule unequivocably requires that at least one-third of all grievance committee members be nonlawyers. As the agency responsible for appointing the committees, it is the responsibility of the Bar to obey the Court's dictates in this regard. For whatever reason, the grievance committee sitting on Respondent's case was not constituted in accordance with rule 11.03 (TR 13). Its actions, therefore, are invalid and its finding of probable cause is a nullity.

The Bar's second failure to comply with the Integration Rule was its failure to attach a list of grievance committee members to its notice of probable cause hearing as required by rule 11.03 (2)(c). The Bar's failure to attach such a list deprives a Respondent of the opportunity to challenge prejudiced members or to challenge the constituency of an improperly impaneled committee -- as was true with the case at Bar.

Finally, the Bar's failure to prosecute with "utmost diligence" Respondent's case resulted in this matter not going to final hearing until over three years after Ms. Lewis' complaint was filed. In other words, the Bar has once again shirked its duty to the public and to the Bar to handle a disciplinary case with dispatch.

The Court has repeatedly held over the years that the obligation to diligently prosecute grievances rests with the Bar. Despite this Court's declaration in 1979 that delay in disciplinary proceedings would be eliminated by new disciplinary rules adopted at that time, grievances are still being unduly delayed. Such delay is unfair to the public and it is unfair to the Respondent.

Respondent's case was factually and legally simple, involving but three witnesses and a few documents. Yet, it was almost three years from the date Ms. Lewis' complaint was filed before the Bar's formal complaint was filed in this Court.

Respondent argues that the Bar's tardy and irresponsible handling of disciplinary cases will continue until this Court starts dismissing unduly delayed cases.

B. <u>The Florida Bar Did Not Prove Its Case by Clear And</u> <u>Convincing Evidence</u>

Despite the fact that the complainant, Wanda Lewis, did not appear at final hearing, the referee recommended that Respondent be found guilty of violating DR 1-102(A)(4) (prohibiting conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation) and Integration Rule 11.02 (3)(a) (which doesn't prohibit anything, but which is a definition of this Court's disciplinary jurisdiction).

The Referee makes no specific finding that any of Respondent's actions involved dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation. There is nothing in the record to indicate he

ever made an untruthful statement to anybody, either in writing or personally, or that he ever intended to deprive Ms. Lewis of the title to her car.

The Bar must prove misconduct by "clear and convincing" evidence, a standard more stringent than the preponderance of the evidence standard used in civil cases. Respondent argues that the Bar has not met its burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that he acted wrongfully.

At the time that Respondent's agent wrote Ms. Lewis demanding payment in full on the Datsun, she was already two months late in making the balloon payment on her car. When payoff was made on July 30, 1982, Ms. Lewis was obligated to Respondent's businesses for two NSF checks and for unpaid rent. After discussions with her lawyer resolved nothing, Respondent in approximately November 1982 decided to deliver title to Ms. Lewis anyway. Some of Respondent's time and attention in the interim between early August and November 1982 was taken up by his son's open heart surgery.

Although Respondent wanted to deliver Ms. Lewis' title to her in November or December, events beyond his control prevented him from doing so. Blue Bird had started undergoing financial difficulties in summer 1982 resulting in West Florida Bank, the lienholder, refusing to release any of the titles it held on Blue Bird cars until the entire \$25,000 to \$30,000 owed on all of them was paid off. In other words, paying off the balance on just Ms. Lewis' car would not have resulted in the banks releasing its

lien and delivering the title.

By about February 1983, notwithstanding his wife's heart attack three months earlier and his son's second open heart surgery that month, Respondent was able to gather the funds the liens Blue Bird titles. necessary to release on Unfortunately, in that month, involuntary bankruptcy proceedings were filed against him which prevented his transferring the title to Ms. Lewis until June 22, 1983.

C. The Facts of This Case Should Not Give Rise to Disciplinary Proceedings

It is undisputed that all the events in this case took place outside Respondent's practice. Ms. Lewis was never a client of Respondent's and never looked upon him for legal advice. Respondent's role in this case was limited to that of a businessman -- not a lawyer.

Respondent's sole wrongdoing in this case was his failure to deliver a title to an automobile owned by a corporation owned by Respondent. Respondent's testimony was uncontradicted that the bulk of the delay in delivery of the titles was due to his financial inability to deliver it.

The Bar should not have the power to professionally discipline a lawyer for conduct such as that before the Court in this case. There is no evidence of fraud and there was no crime committed. A lawyer engaged in business outside his practice with an individual dealing only with his company, and not in any way relying on the lawyer's standing as a member of the Bar,

1Ø

should not have to worry about suffering professional discipline every time one of his businesses fails.

D. The Discipline Recommended by the Referee in This Case Should Be Reduced to A Private Reprimand

Respondent argues that the referee's recommended discipline, i.e., a public reprimand, is too harsh and should be reduced to a private reprimand.

Respondent's misconduct, if any, resulted in no prejudice to Ms. Lewis, occurred outside the practice of law, and resulted from financial reversals. When considered in light of the fact that the instant case is the first time Respondent has been found guilty of violating any ethical precepts and that his misconduct, if any, was in part due to serious health problems within his family, i.e., his son's two open heart surgeries and his wife's heart attack, it becomes apparent that the fairest sanction to be imposed should be the least harsh penalty available -- a private reprimand without appearance before the Board.

Even if a public reprimand is deemed appropriate for Respondent's conduct, the Bar's irresponsible delay in bringing this case (Ms. Lewis filed her complaint on June 22, 1983, almost four years ago) should reduce the discipline imposed to a private reprimand.

ARGUMENT

Ι.

DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDINGS AGAINST RESPONDENT SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR THE BAR'S VIOLATIONS OF THE CLEAR REQUIREMENTS OF THE INTEGRATION RULE

(At the outset of this argument, it should be emphasized to this Court that any violations of the Integration Rule discussed herein were not committed by the Bar Counsel that represented the Bar at final hearing).

On April 17, 1984, the date of Respondent's grievance committee hearing, Rule 11.03 (2)(c) of Article XI of the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar stated in pertinent part:

> (c) Membership, appointment and eligibility. Each grievance committee shall be appointed by the Board of Governors and shall consist of not less than three members. At least one-third of the committee members shall be nonlawyers. . .

At final hearing, the Bar conceded that the requirement of one-third nonlawyers was not met (TR 13). In other words, the Bar violated the clear dictates of the Integration Rule.

It is the responsibility of the Board of Governors of the Bar to constitute the appropriate committee. In the case at hand, despite the fact that the committee had been in session for over nine months on the date of the grievance committee hearing (terms begin on the first day of July. Fla. Bar Integr. Rule,

Art. XI, rule 11.03(2)(d)) it still was not properly impaneled.

Nine months after the grievance committee's term began, the Board of Governors still had not named sufficient nonlawyers to the committee to comply with the Integration Rule!

We do not know the reasons for the Board's failure to discharge its duty, perhaps it does not consider it important to have "at least one-third non-lawyers" as required by this Court. But, whatever the reason, a rule promulgated by this Court was violated, and it should not be overlooked.

Coupled with the Board's failure to properly appoint the committee was the Chairman's failure to comply with the further requirement of rule 11.03(2)(c) that the notice of probable cause hearing be accompanied by a list of the grievance committee members. Such a list would possibly be notice to a Respondent that the committee was improperly constituted.

Why did the Chairman or his designate fail to comply with rule 11.03(2)(c)? We do not know. But, the rule was violated.

The Bar argued at final hearing that Respondent waived his right to attack the makeup of the committee by not objecting at the hearing. How could he? He had not received a current roster. But, more importantly, Respondent should have been able to assume that the Board of Governors had discharged its responsibility to the public and the Bar by naming a panel that complied with the rule. As this Court said in <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Rubin, 362 So.2d 12, 16 (Fla. 1978).

The Bar has consistently demanded that attorneys turn "square corners" in the

their affairs. conduct of An accused attorney has a right to demand no less of the when it musters its resources to Bar prosecute for attorney misconduct. We have previously indicated that we too will demand responsible prosecution of errant attorneys, and that we will hold the Bar accountable for any failure to do so.

In <u>Rubin</u>, after finding that the Bar violated numerous provisions of the Integration Rule, this Court dismissed the charges against the Respondent -- despite the fact that two separate referees had found <u>Rubin</u> guilty of misconduct in two different cases.

The Bar's argument against dismissed is basically "no harm, no foul." If Respondent was not prejudiced, dismissal is not appropriate. If that argument is valid, these proceedings should not be pending against Respondent at all. Ms. Lewis was not prejudiced. No harm, no foul.

The Bar further argued to the referee that its lapses were mere technicalities. Perhaps. But, the Bar prosecutes and this Court disciplines lawyers for violating technical provisions of our ethical rules. See, for example, <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Mitchell, 493 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1986).

Had the grievance committee's vote been unanimous the Bar's arguments against dismissal might have been valid. But, the vote to find probable cause was three to two, with the Chairman casting the deciding vote to break the tie. It is entirely possible that one more appointee to the committee might have resulted in a three to two vote for no probable cause,

eliminating the necessity of the chair casting his vote.

If this Court does not penalize the Bar for failing to abide by this Court's rules relating to discipline, it is sending a clear message to the Board of Governors and to the Bar's staff: Don't worry about adhering to our rules, because no penalty will be imposed if you break them. Such should not be the case -- The Florida Bar should have to abide by this Court's technical rules in the same manner as do its lawyer members.

Respondent asks this Court to declare the grievance committee's finding of probable cause void <u>ab initio</u>. This Court has done that on at least one other occasion. Case No. 59,476 (July 15, 1981) (App. D). There, this Court dismissed disciplinary proceedings against a lawyer because the grievance committee never formally ratified the committee report prepared by its Chairman. Admittedly, a technical failing by the Bar. But, a fatal one nonetheless.

A third reason for dismissing these proceedings is the Bar's failure to prosecute this case promptly. Ms. Lewis' complaint was dated June 22, 1983 (TR 58). Ten months later, on April 17, 1984, after hearing, probable cause was found. Two years later the Bar's formal complaint was filed on April 22, 1986.

It took almost three years from the date of the complaint in this case for the bar to file its formal complaint in this Court. Why so long? Respondent did not hinder the case. It was not complex -- the Bar only subpoenaed two witnesses to final hearing and Respondent's only witness was himself.

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