IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

JOE G. HOSNER,

Respondent.

Case No. 01-83102

ANSWER BRIEF OF COMPLAINANT

SUSAN V. BLOEMENDAAL Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 600 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

Counsel for Complainant

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. The Referee did not abuse her discretion in denying the Respondent's Motion to Dismiss

Respondent's Second Motion to Dismiss alleged as ground for dismissal that the grievance committee for the First Judicial Circuit was comprised of less than one-third nonlawyers. Article XI, Rule 11.03(2)(c) states that, "[a]t least one-third of the [grievance] committee members shall be nonlawyers." This rule does not state that the grievance committee is without jurisdiction or authority to find probable cause in the event that the number of nonlawyers drops below one-third.

Respondent's Second Motion to Dismiss also alleges as cause for dismissal that the Bar failed to attach a list of grievance committee members to the notice of hearing before the grievance committee as required in Article XI, Rule 11.03(2)(c) of the Integration Rule.

However, Respondent was provided with a copy of the list of grievance committee members in October of 1983, approximately six months prior to the grievance committee hearing. Assuming, for the sake of argument that the purpose of Rule 11.03(2)(c) is to provide an accused attorney the opportunity to challenge the constituency of the committee or to ask for recusal of prejudiced members, that purpose was met.

In his first Motion to Dismiss Respondent alleged that The Florida Bar failed to prosecute Respondent's case with "utmost diligence." However, the Referee specifically found that Respondent had not been prejudiced by any delay in processing the case against him (Referee's Report at page 3). This Court has held on more than one occasion that delay in finalizing a grievance proceeding does not constitute grounds for dismissal <u>absent</u> some prejudice or harm to the accused attorney. No harm or prejudice has been alleged here and none found, thus dismissal is simply not warranted.

B. The findings of fact of a Referee are presumed correct and should not be overturned unless wholly lacking in evidentiary support.

Respondent argues that The Florida Bar did not prove its case by clear and convincing evidence; however, a petition for review does not entitle the petitioning party to a de novo trial. The party seeking review must demonstrate that the referee's report is clearly erroneous.

The Referee's Report in this case contains findings of fact which are supported by the record and, as such, are not subject to review. A presumption of correctness is attached to a referee's findings of fact in part because the referee has had an opportunity to personally observe the demeanor of witnesses and to assess their credibility. The Referee's Report in this matter specifically found that parts of Respondent's testimony were not believable and, that

evidence of Respondent's guilty was clear and convincing (Referee's Report at page 3). These findings, presumed correct, are adequately supported by the record and should not be overturned.

C. The facts in this case constitute violation of disciplinary rules prohibiting deceit, mis-representation and violation of Florida Statutes.

Neither the disciplinary rules charged, nor previously decided discipline cases require an attorney-client relationship before an attorney can be found guilty of ethical violations. The Referee in this case found Respondent's conduct to be in violation of several disciplinary rules. First, Respondent was found to have demanded, through an employee under his supervision and control, pay-off of a lease-purchase agreement for a vehicle at a time when he knew he could not produce the title to the vehicle. Such conduct was found to be in violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) for conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation.

Respondent's failure to produce the title to Ms. Lewis was also in violation of §320.27, Florida Statutes, which requires motor vehicle dealers to produce title to the purchaser of a vehicle within 20 days. Ms. Lewis did not receive the title to her vehicle from Respondent until nearly eleven months after she had paid in full all monies owing under the terms of the lease-purchase agreement. Violation of this statute is punishable by fine no greater than \$500 and/or a maximum sentence of six months imprisonment. Such conduct

is violative of Article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a), and a finding of guilt was made by the Referee in this matter.

D. The facts in this case support imposition of a public reprimand.

The discipline of public reprimand recommended by the Referee is appropriate based on the misconduct involved and in light of past disciplinary cases for similar misconduct. Respondent argues in mitigation that the complainant, Ms. Lewis, suffered no harm due to Respondent's misconduct. Although Ms. Lewis was not present to testify at the final hearing regarding prejudice, it is undisputed that Ms. Lewis was deprived of the possession of the title to her vehicle for nearly eleven months. During this eleven month period, Ms. Lewis was unable to sell her vehicle. She was further deprived of any other of the benefits attendant to full ownership of a motor vehicle.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

MERELY TECHNICAL VIOLATIONS OF DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE RULES CONTAINED IN THE INTEGRATION RULE DO NOT CONSTITUTE GROUNDS FOR DISMISSAL OF DISCIPLINARY CHARGES AGAINST AN ATTORNEY.

During the course of these proceedings, Respondent filed two motions to dismiss. The first motion to dismiss was filed on May 13, 1986, and alleged four grounds for dismissal. In his petition for review, Respondent argues that the Referee erred in not granting dismissal based on one of the grounds in this particular motion; laches and/or failure on the Bar's part to prosecute in a timely manner. Additionally, Respondent asserts that the Referee erred in not granting the second motion to dismiss wherein it was alleged that the Bar had failed in two instances to comply with procedural rules found in the Integration Rule of The Florida Bar.

Respondent's first motion to dismiss asserts that the Bar's complaint should be dismissed due to laches and/or the Bar's failure to timely prosecute the disciplinary matter against Respondent. This Court has consistently held in the past that delay in processing a disciplinary case is not sufficient grounds to dismiss the proceeding in the absence of actual prejudice. The Florida Bar v. King, 174 So.2d 398 (Fla. 1965); The Florida Bar v. Randolph, 238 So.2d 635 (Fla. 1970); The Florida Bar v. Nealy, 372 So.2d 89 (Fla. 1972).

This Court has further held that the Florida Bar has a reasonable time in which to proceed against an attorney in a disciplinary matter. The Florida Bar v. McCain, 361 So.2d 700 (Fla. 1978); and The Florida Bar v. Lipman, 497 So.2d 1165 (Fla. 1986).

The preeminent case regarding the laches defense is the McCain In McCain, this Court recited the four requisite elements for a laches defense. Two of these elements are particularly applicable to disciplinary proceedings. First, the lack of knowledge by an accused attorney that the Bar intends to proceed against him or In the case at bar, Respondent was notified that probable cause against him had been found on April 17, 1984. Respondent was, at that time, put on notice that the Bar intended to proceed against him in this disciplinary matter. The second element of laches which is pertinent to disciplinary proceedings is a showing of prejudice by the party seeking the laches defense. There has been absolutely no allegation or proof of any harm, injury, or prejudice to Respondent in these proceedings as a result of the alleged delay in processing this matter. It is clear from the McCain case that all four elements must be demonstrated by a party seeking to use the laches defense before the matter will be dismissed based on laches. Respondent has not asserted in his Initial Brief that any of the four required elements are present.

Respondent seeks to have this Court dismiss the charges against him based on his perception that the Bar "drags its feet" in

prosecuting disciplinary charges against attorneys. It appears that Respondent is asserting that the Bar should be taught a lesson and forced to process disciplinary cases more quickly. Respondent asserts that the way to do this is to dismiss his case. A number of cases are cited by Respondent and language from these cases is quoted. However, none of these cases is dispositive in this matter or even persuasive, since the facts in those cases indicate that the delay in those cases was of a different and/or more serious nature than in the instant case.

In essence, Respondent's position regarding delay is that a delay in the filing of a formal complaint in and of itself, even where no demands to expedite have been made by the respondent, and no prejudice alleged or shown by respondent, should be grounds for dismissal of the complaint. This position is totally without support both in prior cases and in logic. There is no evidence in the Bar's file or in the record presented to the Referee that any demands were made by Respondent to expedite filing of the formal charges against him. Respondent made no such demands and if anything, clearly stood to benefit from any delay in filing of charges. Because the burden of proof is on the Florida Bar in a disciplinary matter, any damage to the case due to delay would accrue to Respondent's favor. At the final hearing in this matter, Respondent presented no witnesses other than himself and no documentary evidence. It is therefore somewhat unlikely that Respondent was damaged by the passage of time.

Finally, the Referee specifically found that any delay in presenting the case had not resulted in prejudice to Respondent.

An administrative rule recently enacted by this Court requires that disciplinary matters be completed within 180 days from the filing of a formal complaint. The case against Respondent was fully litigated within the 180-day requirement set down by this Court. The Referee tendered her report only 42 days after the date of the final hearing. Clearly, no delay has taken place during the actual litigation of this matter. Respondent's tirade against the Florida Bar regarding delay in this matter is more in the vein of an objection to the system in general, and not justification for dismissal of the charges against him.

Respondent's second motion to dismiss filed in the proceeding before the Referee states two grounds which are again argued by Respondent in his petition for review. The first argument is that the Florida Bar failed to comply with an Integration Rule provision requiring that grievance committees be composed of not less than one-third nonlawyer members. The Florida Bar has conceded that the grievance committee that found probable cause against Respondent did not have among its members at least one-third nonlawyers. The Florida Bar further acknowledges that the Integration Rule requires that grievance committees be composed of at least one-third nonlawyer members. However, the Integration Rule does not state that a failure to have at least one-third nonlawyers listed as members of the

grievance committee renders the committee without authority or jurisdiction to find probable cause against an attorney. Respondent takes the somewhat draconian view that when a rule is not complied with, the entire matter should be dismissed as void ab initio. To do so would be to "throw the baby out with the bath water."

In determining whether or not failure to comply with this rule should be a fatal flaw, it is important to consider the reason behind the rule. This particular provision was in all likelihood enacted in order to raise the perception of the public in the matter of lawyer disciplinary proceedings. By having at least one-third nonlawyer members impanelled on a grievance committee, the public has some assurance that individuals outside of the legal profession are participating in the decision to bring charges against an attorney. It is improbable that this particular rule was enacted in order to protect the rights of an accused attorney.

The constituency of the grievance committee in this matter was never questioned or objected to by Respondent at the grievance committee hearing. Further, even though the grievance committee contained less than one-third nonlawyer members among its constituency, of those committee members who were present and participated in the finding of probable cause against Respondent, three were lawyers and two were nonlawyers. Based on actual participation in the probable cause vote, 40% of the committee's membership were nonlawyers. Respondent's late objection to the Bar's

failure to comply with this rule is merely an attempt to circumvent the finding of guilt against him. In refusing to dismiss this cause, the Referee apparently agreed that a failure to comply with a technical rule of procedure does not justify dismissal of a disciplinary complaint against an attorney. While the strict letter of this rule was not met, there is no indication that the Respondent either objected to or was harmed by the absence of additional nonlawyer members on the committee.

Respondent's final ground for dismissal of the charges is that the notice of the grievance committee hearing against Respondent was not accompanied by a list of the grievance committee members. counsel advised the Referee at final hearing that while the Bar could not determine for certain that Rule 11.03(2)(c) had been complied with, that it had been determined that a list of the members of the grievance committee had been provided to Respondent at the same time that Respondent was advised that the complaint of Ms. Lewis was being assigned to a member of the grievance committee for investigation. This particular notice had been sent to Respondent on October 18, 1983, six months before the date of the grievance committee hearing on April 17, 1984. From the time that the list of committee members was forwarded to Respondent, until the date of the hearing, the constituency of the committee remained the same. Respondent's argument that he could not have objected to the constituency of the committee by virtue of the fact that he was not in possession of a current roster, is without merit.

The purpose behind this portion of Rule 11.02(2)(c) must be considered when determining whether a failure to comply with the rule would be fatal. No guidance exists in the form of case law regarding the purpose behind this particular integration rule provision.

However, it would logically follow that notice to an accused attorney of the constituency of a grievance committee would enable the attorney to object to particular committee members and request their recusal in considering the matter against the attorney. Respondent's attorney noted at the final hearing that the obvious purpose behind the rule requiring the attachment of the grievance committee roster to the notice of hearing was to alert a respondent as to who was on the committee. (TR 7) Because Respondent received a roster of the grievance committee members six months prior to the date of the hearing, the spirit of this rule clearly has not been violated.

Respondent urges dismissal of the matter against him because of a failure to comply with rules which he himself has admitted are technical in nature (TR 7) As support for his argument, Respondent has cited this Court, and the Referee at the hearing below, to The
The
Florida Bar v. Rubin, 362 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1978). However,
Respondent's counsel conceded at the final hearing that "Rubin obviously is a lot more heinous misconduct than what we have at the case at Bar." (TR 12)

In the <u>Rubin</u> case, this Court pointed out four specific and separate instances of noncompliance with the rules on the part of the

Bar. First, the Bar in the <u>Rubin</u> case had deliberately held the referee's report in order to consolidate it with a referee's report in another matter against the accused attorney. Secondly, the Bar had filed the referee's report before filing a petition for review, in violation of the Integration Rule provisions in effect at that time. The third instance of noncompliance in the <u>Rubin</u> matter was the filing of the petition for review fifty-one days late. Finally, the Bar in the <u>Rubin</u> matter had improperly waived confidentiality, said waiver resulting in the accused attorney being subjected to widespread negative publicity. There is simply no comparison between the four instances of noncompliance pointed out by this Court in the <u>Rubin</u> case and the two technical instances of noncompliance pointed to by Respondent in this matter. Both the number and the seriousness of the charges in the <u>Rubin</u> case distinguish it from the case against Respondent.

This Court specifically stated in Rubin,

Whether the Bar's violation of the Integration Rule warranted dismissal of all charges, as Rubin urges, depends, we believe, upon the purpose for our procedural requirements, the severity of their breach, and the gravity of the consequences of the accused attorney whose rights are thereby abridged.

The apparent purposes for the rules which Respondent argues have been violated in this matter have not been thwarted. The severity of the breach of these rules is at best technical, and

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